
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 
 

 :  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, :  

 :  
                                     Plaintiff, :  

 :  
v. : Civil Action No.: 4:09-cv-3674 
 :  

ALBERT FASE KALETA and KALETA CAPITAL 
MANAGEMENT, INC., 

: 
: 

 

 :  
                                    Defendants,  :  

and :  
 :  

BUSINESSRADIO NETWORK, L.P. d/b/a 
BIZRADIO and DANIEL FRISHBERG 

FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. d/b/a DFFS 
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, INC.,  

: 
: 
: 
: 

 

 :  
                                    Relief Defendants,  

                                    Solely for the Purposes of 
Equitable Relief.   

: 
: 
: 

 

 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR FINAL JUDGMENT ORDERING DISGORGEMENT 

PLUS PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND A CIVIL PENALTY  
AND RECITING INJUNCTIONS PREVIOUSLY IMPOSED  

AGAINST DEFENDANT ALBERT FASE KALETA 
AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT 

 
 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission” or “Plaintiff”) submits 

this motion requesting the Court to issue a final judgment against Defendant Albert Fase Kaleta, 

reciting permanent injunctions previously imposed against him in this case and ordering him to 

pay disgorgement plus prejudgment interest in the amounts specified herein and a civil penalty.  

The Commission would respectfully show the Court as follows: 
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 I. Relevant Litigation History 
  

On November 13, 2009, the Commission filed this action against Kaleta and his company 

Kaleta Capital Management, Inc. (“KCM”), alleging they raised approximately $10 million from 

approximately 50 investors in a fraudulent securities offering.  At the case’s outset, the Court 

placed Defendant KCM and its assets under the control of Houston attorney Thomas L. Taylor, 

whom the Court appointed Receiver in this case on agreement of the parties.  (Dkt. 7.1).  In June 

2010, the Court modified the receivership order to cover two additional entities:  Daniel 

Frishberg Financial Services, Inc., d/b/a DFFS Capital Management, Inc. (“DFFS”) and Business 

Radio Network L.P, d/b/a BizRadio (“BizRadio”), both of which the Commission had already 

named as Relief Defendants solely to obtain equitable relief against them.  (Dkt. 34). 

The Court entered an Agreed Judgment as to Defendants Kaleta and KCM on December 

2, 2009.  (Dkt. 6).  In the Agreed Judgment, the Court permanently enjoined Kaleta and KCM 

from violating certain anti-fraud provisions of the federal securities laws, specifically Section 

17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 

thereunder, [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], and, as to Kaleta, Section 206 of the Investment Advisers 

Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 80b-6].  Id. 

The Agreed Judgment further provided that Kaleta and KCM “shall pay disgorgement of 

ill-gotten gains, prejudgment interest thereon, and a civil penalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the 

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)], Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

§ 78u(d)(3)], and Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)].”  Id.  It further 

provided that the “Court shall determine the amounts of the disgorgement and civil penalty upon 

motion of the Commission.”  Id.  And the Court expressly limited the Defendants’ latitude to 
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challenge the contemplated motion, specifying that, in connection with such motion, the 

Defendants:  (1) “will be precluded from arguing that they did not violate the federal securities 

laws as alleged in the Complaint” and (2) “may not challenge the validity” of the Agreed 

Judgment.  Id. 

The Court also relaxed the evidentiary standard for the motion, stating:  (1) “solely for 

the purposes of such motion, the allegations of the Complaint shall be accepted as and deemed 

true by the Court” and (2) “the Court may determine the issues raised in the motion on the basis 

of affidavits, declarations, excerpts of sworn deposition or investigative testimony, and 

documentary evidence, without regard to the standards for summary judgment contained in Rule 

56(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.”  Id.  Finally, the Court ordered that prejudgment 

interest on disgorgement ordered “shall be calculated from December 31, 2007, based on the rate 

of interest used by the Internal Revenue Service for the underpayment of federal income tax as 

set forth in 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2).”  Both Kaleta and KCM consented in writing to the entry of 

the Agreed Judgment in the form in which it was entered.  (Dkt. 3-1; 3-2; and 3-3). 

II. It is Appropriate to Order Kaleta to Pay Specific Monetary Amounts 

In keeping with the Agreed Judgment, the Commission now moves for a Final Judgment, 

ordering Defendant Kaleta to pay $1.5 million in disgorgement plus prejudgment interest of 

$246,979.21.  The Commission further moves the Court to impose a monetary penalty against 

Kaleta.  Because his violations involved fraud and resulted in substantial losses, the Court may 

impose penalties at the “Third Tier” under § 21(d)(3)(iii) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

§ 78u(d)(3)(iii)] as adjusted for inflation pursuant to SEC Rule of Practice 1003 [17 CFR § 

201.1003].  These provisions provide that, for each such violation by a natural person, the Court 

may impose a penalty not to exceed the greater of $130,000 or the gross amount of pecuniary 
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gain to the defendant.  The Commission moves that the Court’s Final Judgment ordering these 

payments also recite the injunctive relief already ordered against Kaleta in the Agreed Judgment.  

Finally, because the Court has already placed Defendant KCM under the Receiver’s control, 

which will result in the distribution of all its assets to their rightful claimants, the Commission is 

not now asking the Court to order KCM to pay a specified amount in disgorgement, prejudgment 

interest, or penalty. 

III. Brief in Support:  Arguments and Authorities   
 

A. The Factual Basis for Setting Disgorgement and Prejudgment Interest as to 
Defendant Kaleta 

 
As noted above, the Court has already ordered that it shall accept and deem true the 

allegations in the Commission’s Complaint for the purposes of this motion.  Accordingly, The 

Commission incorporates the allegations of its Complaint by reference as if set forth in full 

herein.  The Commission draws the Court’s attention to the following summary of allegations 

found in the Complaint’s first paragraph, which describes the fraudulent scheme and the ill-

gotten gain Defendant Kaleta derived from it: 

Since approximately December 2007, KCM, a private company owned 

and controlled by Kaleta, has raised approximately $10 million from 

approximately 50 investors in a fraudulent offering of promissory-note securities.  

Kaleta solicited investors on KCM’s behalf, misrepresenting numerous important 

facts about the investment.  For example, Kaleta represented that KCM would use 

the offering proceeds to provide short-term loans to credit-worthy small 

businesses.  Instead, at Kaleta’s direction, KCM loaned approximately $6.7 

million of the offering proceeds to Relief Defendants DFFS and BizRadio, two 

financially precarious KCM affiliates who had no reasonable prospect of repaying 
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the loans.  Kaleta also took approximately $1.5 million of the offering proceeds to 

pay his personal expenses.  Finally, contrary to Kaleta’s representations regarding 

the use of offering proceeds, KCM, at Kaleta’s direction, used offering proceeds 

to make interest payments to some promissory-note investors.   

(Compl. ¶ 1). 

In its Complaint, the Commission alleged, among other things, that the foregoing 

misconduct constituted a scheme to defraud and that the Defendants “obtained money or 

property by means of untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statement made, in light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading.”  (Compl. ¶¶ 19, 24, and 28).  By reason of these activities, the 

Commission alleged, Kaleta and KCM violated Sections 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 

77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder 

[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], and Kaleta also violated Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment 

Advisers [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and (2)].  (Compl. ¶¶ 22, 26, and 30).   

Given these clear allegations in the Complaint, the Court should accept as true and deem 

true that KCM received approximately $10 million in proceeds from a fraudulent securities 

offering and that, of those proceeds, Kaleta took $1.5 million for himself.  Therefore, the Court 

should set Defendant Kaleta’s disgorgement amount at $1.5 million.  In keeping with the Agreed 

Judgment, the Court should order Kaleta to pay prejudgment interest of $246,979.21.  Exhibit A 

in the attached Appendix shows the calculation of the prejudgment interest on the requested 

disgorgement amount on a quarterly basis from December 31, 2007, through May 10, 2011, 

using the method required under the law as explained in the legal analysis below.  (App. at 1).  
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 B. The Court Can Legally Order Kaleta to Pay Disgorgement 
 
  The Commission seeks disgorgement of profits flowing from securities-law violations 

because “[t]he effective enforcement of the federal securities laws requires that the SEC be able 

to make violations unprofitable.”  SEC v. Manor Nursing Ctrs., Inc., 458 F.2d 1082, 1104 (2d 

Cir. 1972).  Disgorgement is “meant to prevent the wrongdoer from enriching himself by his 

wrongs.”  SEC v. Huffman, 996 F.2d 800, 802-03 (5th Cir. 1993); see also SEC v. AMX Int’l, Inc., 

7 F.3d 71, 75 (5th Cir. 1993); SEC v. Blatt, 583 F.2d 1325, 1335 (5th Cir. 1978).  “The purpose of 

disgorgement is to force ‘a defendant to give up the amount by which he was unjustly enriched’ 

rather than to compensate the victims of fraud.”  SEC v. Blavin, 760 F.2d 706, 713 (6th Cir.1985) 

citing SEC v. Commonwealth Chemical Securities, Inc., 574 F.2d 90, 102 (2d Cir.1978).  By 

preventing unjust enrichment, disgorgement has the effect of “deterring violations of law.”  

CFTC v.  British American Commodity Options Corp., 788 F.2d 92, 94 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 

479 U.S. 853 (1986).  “The deterrent effect of an SEC enforcement action would be greatly 

undermined if securities law violators were not required to disgorge illicit profits.”  Manor 

Nursing, 458 F.2d at 1104.   

 Once the Commission has established the defendant’s securities-law violations, the 

district court is empowered to order the defendant to “disgorge a sum of money equal to all the 

illegal payments he received.”  Blavin, 760 F.2d at 713.  Here, the Commission has established 

Kaleta’s securities-law violations.  The Complaint amply alleged he received illegal payments 

flowing from securities-law violations.  Under the Agreed Judgment, the Court has accepted and 

deemed these allegations true.  Therefore, the Court may order the Kaleta to disgorge a sum of 

money equal to the illegal payments he got as alleged in the Complaint.   
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C. Disgorgement Need only be a Reasonable Approximation of the Profits 
Flowing from the Violations 

 
In calculating the amount the defendant must disgorge, “the entire amount of profits 

which were illicitly received must be disgorged.”  SEC v. Blackwell, 477 F.Supp.2d 891, 914 

(S.D. Ohio 2007) quoting SEC v. Great Lakes Equities Co., 775 F.Supp. 211, 214 

(E.D.Mich.1991).  The law does not require precision in determining the proper amount of 

disgorgement.  “The District Court has broad discretion not only in determining whether or not to 

order disgorgement but also in calculating the amount to be disgorged.”  SEC v. First Jersey Sec., 

Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1475 (2d Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 812 (1997).  Furthermore, 

“disgorgement need only be a reasonable approximation of profits causally connected to the 

violation.”  Id.; see also SEC v. Better Life Club of Am., Inc., 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 7319 at *13 

(D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 867 (1999); SEC v. First Pacific Bancorp, 142 F.3d 1186, 1192 

n.6 (9th Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1121 (1999); SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., Ltd., 890 F.2d 

1215, 1231 (D.C. Cir. 1989).  The D.C. Circuit has explained:  

If exact information were obtainable at negligible cost, we would not hesitate to 
impose upon the government a strict burden to produce that data to measure the 
precise amount of the ill-gotten gains.  Unfortunately, we encounter imprecision and 
imperfect information. . . . Rules for calculating disgorgement must recognize that 
separating legal from illegal profits exactly may at times be a near-impossible task. 

 
First City, 890 F.2d at 1231. 

 “If the Court chooses to order disgorgement, all doubts concerning the amount of 

disgorgement ‘are to be resolved against the defrauding party.’”  Blackwell, 477 F.Supp.2d at 

913 citing Great Lakes Equities, 775 F.Supp. at 214.  The Commission must simply show that 

the disgorgement amount requested is a “reasonable approximation of profits causally connected 

to the violation.”  Blackwell, 477 F.Supp.2d at 914-915, quoting SEC v. First Financial Ltd., 688 

F.Supp. 705, 727 (D.D.C.1988), aff’d, 890 F.2d 1215 (D.C.Cir.1989).  Once the Commission 
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presents evidence reasonably approximating the amount of ill-gotten gains, the burden of proof 

shifts to the defendant.  See First City, 890 F.2d at 1232; see also SEC v. Hughes Capital Corp., 917 

F. Supp. 1080, 1085 (D.N.J. 1996), aff’d, 124 F.3d 449 (3d Cir. 1997).  The defendant is then 

“obliged clearly to demonstrate that the disgorgement figure [is] not a reasonable approximation.”  

First City, 890 F.2d at 1232; see also SEC v. Benson, 657 F. Supp. 1122, 1133 (S.D.N.Y. 1987). 

 As alleged in the Complaint, and now accepted and deemed true for the purposes of this 

motion, Kaleta received illegal payments of approximately $1.5 million.  Because it is deemed 

true, $1.5 million is a reasonable approximation of disgorgement as to Kaleta.   

D. Disgorgement is not Reduced by the Money the Defendant Spent, Lost, 
Transferred, or Dissipated 

 
If the Defendant were to contend that he has lost or dissipated some or all of the proceeds of 

his wrongful conduct, such a contention would not affect the proper amount of disgorgement.  A 

securities-law violator cannot diminish his responsibility to cough up illegal profits by claiming he 

no longer possesses the funds due.  See SEC v. Shapiro, 494 F.2d 1301, 1309 (2d Cir. 1974).  “[A] 

defendant’s claim that his profits were wiped out by subsequent losses is no defense to 

disgorgement.”  SEC v. Grossman, 1997 U.S. Dist LEXIS 6225 at *29 (S.D.N.Y. 1997), vac’d and 

remanded in part on other grounds, SEC v. Hirshberg, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 4764 (2d Cir. 1999); 

see also SEC v. Commonwealth Secur., Inc., 410 F. Supp. 1002, 1021 (S.D.N.Y. 1976) (allowing 

defendants “to credit their subsequent losses against their prior gains would be to permit them to 

profit from their own wrongs”), modif. in part on other grounds and aff’d in part, 574 F.2d 90 (2d 

Cir. 1978). 

 In addition, the Defendants cannot diminish their obligation to disgorge by offering to prove 

that they spent some or all of the unlawful profits on legitimate business expenses.  The 

“overwhelming weight of authority hold[s] that securities law violators may not offset their 
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disgorgement liability with business expenses.”  SEC v. Kenton Capital, Ltd., 69 F.Supp.2d 1, 16 

(D.D.C. 1998); see also Hughes, 917 F. Supp. at 1087.  “The manner in which [the defendant] 

chose to spend his misappropriations is irrelevant as to his objection to disgorge.  Whether he chose 

to use this money to enhance his social standing through charitable contributions, to travel around 

the world, or to keep his co-conspirators happy is his own business.”  SEC v. Benson, 657 F. Supp. 

1122, 1134 (S.D.N.Y. 1987); see also Great Lakes Equities, 775 F. Supp. at 214.   

E. The Court Should Order Kaleta to Pay Prejudgment Interest 

The purpose of prejudgment interest is to prevent a defendant from obtaining the benefit 

of what amounts to an interest free loan on the proceeds of an illegal activity.  Blackwell, 477 

F.Supp.2d at 913 (citing SEC v. Moran, 944 F.Supp. 286, 295 (S.D.N.Y.1996)).  “The 

calculation of prejudgment interest follows the delinquent tax rate for unpaid taxes as determined 

by the Internal Revenue Service, and is assessed on a quarterly basis.”  Id.  (citing First Jersey, 

101 F.3d at 1476).  “An award of pre-judgment interest in a case involving violations of the federal 

securities laws rests within the equitable discretion of the district court to be exercised according to 

considerations of fairness.”  Chris-Craft Indus., Inc. v. Piper Aircraft Corp., 516 F.2d 172, 191 (2d 

Cir. 1975), rev’d on other grounds, 430 U.S. 1 (1977).   

 Requiring Kaleta to pay prejudgment interest in this case is proper and fair.  By violating the 

securities laws, Kaleta acquired $1.5 million.  In July 2010, Kaleta paid the Receiver $48,000, 

leaving a balance owed of $1.452,000, on which he should pay prejudgment interest.  The IRS 

underpayment rate is appropriate for calculating prejudgment interest in Commission enforcement 

actions such as this one.  That rate of interest “reflects what it would have cost to borrow the money 

from the government and therefore reasonably approximates one of the benefits the defendant 

derived from its fraud.”  First Jersey, 101 F.3d at 1476.  Based on principal amount of $1.452,000 
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Kaleta owes prejudgment interest of $246,979.21, as calculated from December 31, 2007, through 

May 10, 2011.  App at 1. 

 F. The Court Should Order Kaleta to Pay Civil Money Penalties 
 
 Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)] authorize the Commission to seek, and the Court to impose, 

a third-tier civil money penalty if the defendant’s violation (1) “involved fraud, deceit, 

manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement” and (2) “directly or 

indirectly resulted in substantial losses or created a significant risk of substantial losses to other 

persons.”  Under Section 20(d) of the Securities Act and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 

third-tier civil penalties for a natural person shall not exceed the greater of $130,000 (per the 

inflation adjustment specified by 17 C.F.R. § 201.1003) or the gross amount of pecuniary gain to 

such defendant as a result of the violation.   

Because of his fraudulent scheme, described in the Complaint and deemed true and 

accepted for the purposes of this motion, Kaleta’s misconduct directly caused losses of 

approximately $10 million and created a significant risk of substantial loss to investors.  

Accordingly, the Commission requests that the Court order Kaleta to pay a third-tier civil 

penalty. 

IV. Conclusion 
 
 For the foregoing reasons, the Commission respectfully requests the Court to enter a Final 

Judgments against Defendants Kaleta, reciting the previously imposed injunctions against him in 

this case and ordering them to pay $1.5 million in disgorgement; plus prejudgment interest of 

$246,979.21; plus a third-tier penalty, not to exceed the greater of $130,000 or $1.5 million, to be 

determined by the Court. 
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 A proposed final judgment that would effect this relief is submitted herewith.    

May 11, 2011     Respectfully submitted,  

      By: s/Timothy S. McCole 
       TIMOTHY S. McCOLE 

Mississippi Bar No. 10628 
 Securities and Exchange Commission 

       Fort Worth Regional Office 
       801 Cherry Street, Suite 1900 
       Fort Worth, Texas 76102 
       (817) 978-6453(817)  
       978-2700 (facsimile) 
 

CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE 

 Commission counsel conferred by email with Kaleta’s counsel, who stated that Kaleta 
opposes this motion. 
 

s/Timothy S. McCole  
TIMOTHY S. McCOLE 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on May 11, 2011, I provided a copy of the foregoing document to the 

following parties: 

Albert Fase Kaleta     
c/o Thomas Deon Warner  
550 Westcott Street, Suite 415 
Houston, TX 77007 
Telephone: (713) 807-1007 
Facsimile: (713) 807-1024 
 
BusinessRadio Network, L.P. 
d/b/a Bizradio 
c/o Thomas L. Taylor III 
Counsel for the Receiver 
4550 Post Oak Place Drive 
Suite 241 
Houston, Texas 77027 
Telephone: 713.626.5300 
Facsimile: 713.402.6154 
 
Daniel Frishberg Financial Services 
d/b/a DFFS Capital Management, Inc. 
c/o Thomas L. Taylor III 
Counsel for the Receiver 
4550 Post Oak Place Drive 
Suite 241 
Houston, Texas 77027 
Telephone: 713.626.5300 
Facsimile: 713.402.6154 
 
Kaleta Capital Management, Inc. 
c/o Thomas L. Taylor III 
Counsel for the Receiver 
4550 Post Oak Place Drive 
Suite 241 
Houston, Texas 77027 
Telephone: 713.626.5300 
Facsimile: 713.402.6154 
 
       s/Timothy S. McCole 
       Timothy S. McCole 
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